IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC11-2038



RICHARD ENGLAND. Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 7TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar no. 0558893 Assistant CCC

ALI ANDREW SHAKOOR Florida Bar No. 669830 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL -MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

Summary of The Arguments

ISSUE I

TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO UNCOVER EVIDENCE THAT THE STATE USED WITNESS STEVEN DIEHL AS AN AGENT OF THE STATE AGAINST MR. ENGLAND. THIS WAS A VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH. EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE CORRESPONDING THE UNITED STATES AND PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. MOREOVER. THE STATE USED WITNESS STEVEN DIEHL AS AN AGENT OF THE STATE AGAINST MR. ENGLAND IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH. SIXTH. EIGHTH. AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED **STATES** AND THE CORRESPONDING

ISSUE II

MR. ENGLAND WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF UNITED THE THE STATES AND CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY CHALLENGE THE STATE'S CASE, COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The resolution of the issues in this action will determine whether Mr. England lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. England accordingly requests that this Court permit oral argument.

CITATION KEY

The record on direct appeal of Mr. England's trial shall be cited (FSC ROA Vol. # p. #). The record of Mr. England's evidentiary hearing shall be cited as (PCR Vol. # p. #).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Richard England was indicted on charges of First Degree Murder and Armed Robbery with a Deadly Weapon, (FSC ROA Vol. I p.1-2). England filed a motion to suppress statements of inmates: inmate Diehl because he signed a contract with Mr. England not to divulge information, and inmates Seals and Garcia because they were allegedly working as state agents. (FSC ROA Vol. II p. 265-266).

Before the hearing, the Defense limited the motion to the testimony of Diehl

since the State did not intend to call Seals and Garcia as witnesses. (FSC ROA Vol. III p. 396, Vol. V, p. 960-61) The motion was denied. (FSC ROA Vol. III p. 396-397),

At the status conference on April 16, 2004, Mr. England, waived Speedy Trial, but the trial court rescinded the signed waiver over counsel's objection, after England changed his mind. (FSC ROA Vol. IV p. 657-681). The case was tried by jury from May 10 to May 24, 2004. The penalty phase jury returned a recommendation of 8 to 4 for death and Mr. England appealed. The judgments and sentences were affirmed in England v. State, 940 So.2d 389 (Fla. 2006). Mr. England's cert. Petition was denied on April 2, 2007. Mr. England filed his 3.851 Motion for PostConviction Relief on February 4, 2008. The State filed its Answer on March 14, 2008.

An evidentiary hearing was scheduled on September 15, 19-29, 2008. On September 6, 2011, the circuit entered an Order denying the 8, 9, 10, and 11 of the Defendant's 3.851 Motion for Postconviction Relief, along with an Interim Order denying claims 1-6, which addressed the merits of counsel's 3.851 motion filed on February 4, 2008.

On September 13, 2011, the State filed a Motion for Clarification and/or Correction. On October 20, 2011, the lower court entered an Order granting Defendant's (sic) Motion for Clarification And/Or Correction And Denying Claims I, III, IV, VI, and VII of Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief. The State filed a State's Second Motion To Clarify And/Or Correct Trial Court's October 20, 2011 Order Granting Defendant's (sic) Motion For Clarification And/Or Correction And Denying Claims I, III, IV, VI, and VII of Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, which was granted by the court on October 25, 2011. After disposing of various pro se motions filed by the Defendant, and reflected in the record on appeal, this Court entered a Briefing Schedule on December 14, 2012. This appeal follows.

RELEVANT EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

TESTIMONY OF INEZ FYFFE: Inez Fyffe is the mother of Richard England. (PCR Vol. I p. 151). She is also the mother of Barry Allen England, who is deceased and Alison England. (PCR Vol. I p. 151). Richard England's natural father, who Richard never knew, was Richard Allen Williams. (PCR Vol. I p. 152). Richard was born in Panama. (PCR Vol. I p. 152). Mr. Williams left Inez before Richard was born. (PCR Vol. I p. 152). Inez later married Ronnie England, who was in the United States Army, and who adopted Richard when he was eight years old. (PCR Vol. I p. 152). Ronnie England served in the Vietnam War. (PCR Vol. I p. 152). Ronnie England was the biological father of Alison and Barry. (PCR Vol. I p. 153). Inez and her family, including Richard England, lived together as a family for twelve years. (PCR. Vol. I p. 153). Ronnie England mistreated the children including Richard. (PCR Vol. I p. 153). For instance, when he drank and the children wouldn't do what he said, he would have them position themselves in this position called the cockroach with their arms and legs up. He would slam them against the walls. He would do a lot of bad things to them, things that were not good for the children. (PCR Vol. I p. 154). Richard was biting his fingernails and he was very nervous. (PCR Vol. I p. 154).

Inez decided to get separated from Ronnie England. (PCR Vol. I p. 154). Ronnie England had seven drinking and driving cases in Panama City and he also had cases in Kentucky and Florida. (PCR Vol. I p. 154). After Inez and Ronnie England separated, he took all the children from Inez, but he was caught drinking and driving and was put in jail. (PCR Vol. I p. 155). Ronnie England then called Inez to pick up two of the kids, Barry and Alison, but he kept the one that was not his kid, Richard England. (PCR Vol. I p. 155). Inez believed that Ronnie England was trying to hurt her by taking her son Richard away from her. (PCR Vol. I p. 155). Inez believed that Ronnie taking Richard from her was a vindictive act. (PCR Vol. I p. 156).

When Richard was taken from Inez by Ronnie England, Richard was

approximately 12 years old. (PCR Vol. I p. 156). After Richard was taken by Ronnie England, Richard never again lived in Inez's household. (PCR Vol. I p. 156). Inez believed that Ronnie brainwashed Richard. (PCR Vol. I p. 156). She believed that Ronnie had brainwashed Richard because when she would go visit Richard, he wouldn't treat her as a child would treat his mother that was visiting. (PCR Vol. I p. 157). Richard didn't appear to be happy when he came to visit his mother Inez. (PCR Vol. I p. 157). Richard was hyperactive as a child and he would react to things quickly. (PCR Vol. I p. 157).

Ronnie England told Inez that Richard was doing drugs and Inez asked Ronnie to give Richard back to her, but Ronnie refused to give him back. (PCR Vol. I p. 158). Ronnie England never intended to give Richard back to Inez even though it was in Richard's best interest. (PCR Vol. I p. 159). Inez saw Richard only once a month and sometimes three times a month when he lived with Ronnie England. (PCR.Vol. I p. 159).

About three years after Ronnie England left, Inez eventually married a man named David Cline. (PCR Vol. I p. 159). Inez lived with Cline, Alison and Barry. (PCR Vol. I p. 160). The marriage to David Cline was a big mistake. (PCR Vol. I p. 160). Inez felt that he wasn't a real person. (PCR Vol. I p. 160). Inez learned inadvertently that Cline liked both men and women - that he was a bi-sexual. (PCR Vol. I p. 161). Inez also learned that Cline had a history of molesting a girl. (PCR Vol. I p. 161). Inez was told by a friend who would come to her house and leave her daughters with her children, Alison and Barry, that Cline had touched the little breast of the little girl. (PCR Vol. I p. 161). Inez's friend who told her this, Sorena, banished herself from the house and never came back again. (PCR Vol. I p. 161). Inez had further suspicions about Cline and she was having dreams and she couldn't sleep. (PCR Vol. I p. 161).

Alison was eight years old during the time Inez was married to Cline. (PCR Vol. I p. 161). Inez was married to Cline for only one and a half years. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). Inez once came home and found Alison nervous and crying in the bathroom. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). She found Cline naked in the bedroom and he had pictures of himself without any clothes on spread around the room. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). Cline also had ugly things spread around the bedroom such as vibrators, dildos, and something he used to put in from behind. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). Cline did not seem to care that these things were within sight of the children. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). Inez believed that Cline was abusing all of the children. (PCR Vol. I p. 162). Inez's belief was based upon changes she noticed in her children and how they were acting in a strange way. (PCR Vol. I p. 164).

Inez once noticed that Richard came home with new clothes after being

befriended by a black male soldier. (PCR Vol. I p. 164). At the time the family lived in Georgia and would see Richard with new things that she knew that Ronnie England did not and would not get for Richard. (PCR Vol. I p. 164). Inez was concerned about this because a person doesn't give things to a child for nothing in return. (PCR Vol. I p. 165). Inez believed that perhaps that man was taking advantage of Richard. (PCR Vol. I p. 165).

When Inez separated from Cline, he admitted to her that he played with Alison's mind and he also said something to the effect that "you will remember me through Richard." (PCR Vol. I p. 166). Inez was not sure what Cline meant by that statement. (PCR Vol. I p. 166).

Inez was available during trial to testify about the things that she testified to at the evidentiary hearing, but was never asked by the attorney's about these matters. (PCR Vol. I p. 166). The attorneys never asked questions like the questions she was asked at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. I p. 170). Inez did not testify at the penalty phase because she was told that the lawyers were going to use them, then afterwards the detective, or somebody, told them that they didn't need to put us up. (PCR Vol. I p. 169). No one ever asked Inez to testify at Richard's sentencing hearing. (PCR Vol. I p. 171).

TESTIMONY OF ALISON ENGLAND:

Alison Carmen England is Richard England's sister. (PCR. Vol. II p. 191). Alison's biological father was Ronnie England. (PCR Vol. II p. 192). Alison testified that she, Richard, and her other brother, Barry, lived together. (PCR Vol. II p. 192).

Alison described how Ronnie England treated the children by saying that he was pretty rough on them all. (PCR Vol. II p. 193). Alison described the military style punishment administered by Ronnie England as well as beatings to the boys with his fists. (PCR Vol. II p. 193). She also described Ronnie England forcing the children into the cockroach position. (PCR Vol. II p. 203). Alison recounted an incident when she and her brothers were caught eating cookies when they weren't supposed to. Ronnie England woke them up at 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning and he had staged a lot of junk food on the table. There was ice cream, cake, candy, and cookies. Ronnie England forced the children to eat until they got physically sick. Barry threw up in his bowl and was forced to eat the vomit. Richard England ate his brother's vomit to protect Barry from Ronnie England. (PCR Vol. II p. 204).

Alison described Ronnie England as an alcoholic. (PCR Vol. II p. 194). The military police would often bring Ronnie England home for drinking and driving and accidents. (PCR Vol. II p. 194). Often the violent punishment coincided with the alcoholism and intoxication but sometimes Ronnie England would be violent even if he came home from work upset. (PCR Vol. II p. 195).

Alison recalled when Ronnie England left her mother, Inez, taking Richard with him and how she could not understand why it was happening. (PCR Vol. II p. 197). The children did not see each other as much after the separation and Barry was hurt by it a lot. (PCR Vol. II p. 198). After the separation, the family lived in a trailer park in Hinesville, Georgia. (PCR Vol. II p. 198). Shortly thereafter, David Cline came into the picture. (PCR Vol. II p. 198).

Alison remembered Cline living with her and the family for two or three years. (PCR Vol. II p. 199). Cline sexually abused Alison and raped her in a sense although as a child she did not understand what was going on. (PCR Vol. II p. 199). Cline raped Alison many times over a period of years when she was a young child. (PCR Vol. II p. 205). Cline told Alison that if she told about the abuse, he would hurt her mom. (PCR Vol. II p. 205).

Cline was real abusive to Alison and she believed he abused Barry also. (PCR Vol. II p. 199). There came a time when Alison suspected that Cline was abusing Barry. (PCR Vol. II p. 206). Right before Richard's trial, Barry died. (PCR Vol. II p. 206). Barry became involved in drugs and alcohol and he didn't care whether he lived or died. (PCR Vol. II p. 207). After he died, Alison went through his personal belongings and found pictures drawn into his bible. (PCR Vol. II p. 207). The pictures were stick figures of people being raped from behind and he wrote "ouch" on a few of the pictures. (PCR Vol. II p. 207). Alison believed that Barry was being sexually abused. (PCR Vol. II p. 208). She believed this because Barry would call her to the bathroom all the time and tell her to bring him a towel. (PCR Vol. II p. 207). When Alison would go to the bathroom Cline would be standing there naked and masturbating. (PCR Vol. II p. 208). Cline would tell Alison to come to the bathroom and he would do things to her and he would call Barry in the room, too. (PCR Vol. II p. 208). Now that she is older, it had to be for the same reason, but when she saw the stick figures in the Bible, Alison understood. (PCR Vol. II p. 208). When Richard England came to visit, Cline was there also. (PCR Vol. II p. 209).

Alison recalled attorneys Keating and Sanders but did not really recall investigator Jake Ross. (PCR Vol. II p. 209). The attorneys did not tell her what she would be testifying about and just said it was kind of to help Richard. (PCR. Vol. II p. 210). She was asked to come to Florida, and to testify, but she never did. (PCR Vol. II p. 210). Alison had one or two conversations with Mr. Keating on the phone and one or two in person when she was in Florida. (PCR Vol. II p. 210). Alison had no idea about her role or purpose in testifying at her brother's trial. (PCR Vol. II p. 210). Mr. Keating said to Alison that the jury needed to know he had loved ones, that people who cared about him were there. (PCR Vol. II p. 211). Neither Mr. Keating nor Mr. Sanders ever explored the painful details of sexual abuse that Alison had suffered by the actions of Cline. (PCR Vol. II p. 211). Had she been asked by the trial attorneys, Alison would have come into the courtroom at Richard's trial and explained the things she testified to at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. II p. 211). Alison did not really remember Investigator Jake Ross too much. (PCR Vol. II p. 214).

TESTIMONY OF STEVEN DIEHL:

Steven Jason Diehl testified at the evidentiary hearing that he is now in prison in Jessamine County, Kentucky. (PCR Vol. II p. 224). He was once in the Volusia County jail on a violation of probation charge where he met Richard England. (PCR Vol. II p. 224). They were in the same block in the jail. (PCR Vol. II p. 225). Diehl and Richard England spoke several times daily for about a month. (PCR Vol. II p. 225). When Diehl spoke with Richard England, he knew that England was facing capital murder charges. (PCR Vol. II p. 225). Richard England told Diehl that he was innocent of killing Wetherell. (PCR Vol. II p. 225). Richard England also told Diehl that Michael Jackson was the killer of Wetherell.

While in the Volusia County jail, a jail deputy approached him about an offer to help himself. (PCR Vol. II p. 225). Diehl testified that the jail deputy was a taller

Hispanic male, kind of thinning receding hairline, brushed back, shaded glasses, that he didn't believe he had any facial hair. (PCR Vol. II p. 233). Diehl testified that the jail deputy told him that he knew that he was buddying up with Richard England and asked him if he would be interested in speaking with anyone about information that he heard from Richard England. (PCR Vol. II p. 233). Diehl told the jail deputy that he would be interested. (PCR Vol. II p. 233). Diehl told the jail deputy that he would be interested. (PCR Vol. II p. 233). Within a matter of days the detectives came out to see him. (PCR Vol. II p. 244). Diehl testified that as he testified previously, he did ask to speak with police, but he did not initiate the contact. (PCR Vol. II p. 234). The jail deputy did not specifically tell him what he was to do to help himself. (PCR Vol. II p. 234).

Diehl eventually came into contact with Detective Session and McGuire. (PCR Vol. II p. 234). Diehl was eventually asked by the detectives to speak with Richard England. (PCR. Vol. II p. 235).

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD ENGLAND:

Richard England testified at the evidentiary hearing and he maintained his innocence. (PCR Vol. II p. 260). England testified that he met Steven Diehl at the Volusia County Jail and since they both had the state of Kentucky in common, they began to talk. (PCR Vol. II p. 262). England said he did begin discussing his charges with Diehl. (PCR Vol. I p. 262). England did favors for Diehl such as make phone calls for him. (PCR Vol. I p. 264). Diehl helped England obtain information related to England's discovery materials. (PCR Vol. I p. 266). They discussed things like getting a private attorney. (PCR Vol. I p. 268). England testified that Diehl said he believed him when England said he did not kill Wetherell. (PCR. Vol. I p. 269).

TESTIMONY OF DR. RICHARD CARPENTER:

Dr. Richard Carpenter testified at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. III p. 307). He is a licensed psychologist with a Bachelor's degree in psychology from the University of South Florida and a Doctoral degree in psychology from Utah State University. (PCR Vol. III p. 307). He worked as a Jimmy Ryce evaluator, did adolescent treatment for DCF, did forensic competency and sanity evaluations, and has worked on death penalty cases. (PCR Vol. III p. 307-36).

Dr. Carpenter evaluated Richard England and saw him three times. (PCR Vol. III p. 328). At first, England was reluctant to participate and Dr. Carpenter conducted a history and built a rapport. (PCR Vol. III p. 328). The second interview involved a psycho-social history. (PCR Vol. III p. 329). Near the end of the second interview Dr. Carpenter brought up the issue of homosexual or homophobic behavior or tendencies that were reported in the paper about the case. (PCR .Vol. III p. 330).

Dr. Carpenter completed an evaluation of Richard England and found him to be suffering from bipolar disorder. (PCR Vol. III p. 340). Bipolar disorder is a mood disorder of emotion and moods characterized by depression and what is called mania or as hyperactive or expansive elated moods. (PCR Vol. III p. 340). England had a very difficult time with hyperactive behavior in school and he very likely had attention deficit hyperactivity disorder or ADHD. (PCR Vol. III p. 340). Dr. Carpenter noted that England was retained in the fifth grade and he was impulsive. (PCR Vol. III p. 341). England described increasing tendency towards mood swings which vacillated between manic excitability and euphoric mood and depression. (PCR Vol. III p. 341). England reported hyperactive moods, high energy, manic moods, and decreased need for sleep without the need for stimulant drugs. (PCR Vol. III p. 341).

Alison England reported to Dr. Carpenter her brother as hyperactive and impulsive as a child. (PCR Vol. III p. 342). Alison reported the sexual abuse she suffered and the sexual abuse that Barry suffered. (PCR. Vol. III p. 343).

Richard England also reported that when he was around the age of 10 or 11 that he knew a boy from the Army base that had gotten some kind of expensive bike or moped or something. When asked where he got it, the boy told England that the coach gave it to him. (PCR Vol. III p. 343). When probed, the kid told England

that, "if you get involved in sexual activity with this guy, you'll get treats or gifts." (PCR Vol. III p. 343). England then did follow up on that conversation by getting involved with this guy and he stated that he was buying him things. (PCR Vol. III p. 343). When Dr. Carpenter asked England if the coach ever molested him he said he never let it get that far but admitted that one time the coach rubbed his stomach. (PCR Vol. III p. 343). Belly rubbing was the extent of it. (PCR Vol. III p. 343).

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