IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD ENGLAND,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-2038

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MITCHELL D. BISHOP ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 43319 Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 E-Mail: mitchell.bishop@myfloridalegal.com E-Service: CapApp@myfloridalegal.com (386)238-4990 (PHONE) (386)226-0457 (FAX) Attorney for the State of Florida

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

England's claim that Steven Diehl was acting as a state agent is procedurally barred, it was waived, and it has no merit. England's trial counsel moved to suppress Diehl's testimony alleging that Diehl was acting as a state agent. The trial judge denied the motion and made specific findings of fact that Diehl was not a state agent. England could have raised this claim on direct appeal, but did not. To avoid the procedural bar, England alleges ineffective assistance of counsel. Claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be re-litigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.

England waived any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel when he demanded a speedy trial against his attorneys' advice. Even if counsel was deficient and there was prejudice, it was England's decision to go to trial before his attorney had a reasonable amount of time to prepare for both phases of a capital murder trial. The state did not solicit Diehl to gather information from England; Diehl was told "not to approach the defendant, not to initiate conversations, and not to act as the agent of the police." Furthermore, this Court has repeatedly observed that recantations are "exceedingly unreliable."

In preparing for trial, there was no evidence or indication that England had mental health problems. England was very reluctant to share anything with is attorneys and he seemed to be "an intelligent man . . . didn't see any indication of

any mental health disorders." Counsel is not deficient for failing to request a mental health evaluation if there is no reason to suspect mental health issues.

Nonetheless, counsel had England evaluated before the *Spencer* hearing and nothing good came from the mental health evaluation. Dr. Danziger was not able to provide any statutory or nonstatutory mitigation. In fact, his report indicated some things that would lead to additional aggravators. Furthermore, England has waived any deficiency caused by demanding speedy trial, despite Mr. Keating's warning that he had not prepared for the penalty phase. As Mr. Keating stated, there was no evidence of mental health mitigation; however, there was mental health evidence that could be considered negatively. Dr. Carpenter was not a credible witness. Dr. Carpenter's diagnosis of Bipolar Disorder is unsubstantiated and contradicted by Drs. Danziger and Riebsame. Furthermore, Dr. Carpenter's homophobic rage theory is more likely to be aggravating in the eyes of the jury, rather than mitigating.

Lastly, contrary to what England's mother and sister now claim, the evidence demonstrates that the defense team pleaded with England's family to stay and testify for him at the penalty phase, but they chose not to stay. There can be no deficient performance where mitigation witnesses made themselves unavailable. Furthermore, the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing from Ines and Alison was cumulative to that presented at the penalty phase.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO QUESTION STEVEN DIEHL ABOUT HIS RELATIONSHIP TO THE STATE

In his first claim, England argues that witness Steven Diehl was a State agent and that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to discover Diehl's agency. This issue is procedurally barred, this claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was waived by England when he demanded a speedy trial, and this claim has no merit.²⁰

A. The Trial Judge's Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief

After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court made the following findings of fact and conclusions of law with regard to England's claim about witness Steven Diehl.

Defendant asserts that Counsel was ineffective for failing to question Witness Stephen Diehl ("Witness Diehl") about his relationship with the State. Defendant argues that inmate, Witness Diehl, who presented testimony to the jury, was acting as a State agent when he elicited statements from Defendant. "Issues which either were or could have been litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack." *Demps v. State*, 416 So. 2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1982). Further, the Florida Supreme Court found that an "inmate was

²⁰ The State argued in the court below that this issue is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal. Notwithstanding, the lower court held an evidentiary hearing on the issue. The State continues to assert the issue is procedurally barred, but will address the issue of waiver and the merits. The State argues in the alternative: that the issue is procedurally barred, that it was waived, and that it has no merit.

not a state agent where the inmate approached the authorities on his own initiative and, after speaking with authorities, the inmate was neither encouraged nor discouraged from obtaining further information." *Dufour v. State*, 495 So. 2d 154, 159 (Fla. 1986); *but see Walls v. State*, 580 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 1991) (where a corrections officer was considered a State agent).

During the deposition of Witness Diehl, Counsel Robert Sanders ("Counsel Sanders") questions focused on Witness Diehl's communication with law enforcement. The following colloquy occurred:

DEFENSE COUNSEL SANDERS ("Q"): Did - - were you given anything of benefit or were you - - did you benefit at all by agreeing to testify in this case against Richard England?

WITNESS DIEHL ("A"): No, sir.

Q: When did you first talk to law enforcement about this case?

A: After I had - - was in the same cell block with Richard England. The date I'm uncertain of

Q: What instructions were you given as far as contacting or getting information from Richard England?

A: I was told at that point after contacting - - after having contact with the investigators that I could not act as an agent on their behalf, and that I wasn't to - - to delve into the matter any further unless it was brought to me in normal conversation by Mr. England, that I was not to go and actually be inquisitive on the matter.

Q: Was there any talk between you and law enforcement about them trying to help get you out of jail early enough to be there when your baby was born?

A: Not so much on their part. They informed me that they were not able to make any deals or promises with me, but I would be untruthful if I were to say that the thought didn't cross my mind, that it may - - that I may be able to get them to help me out so that I was able to get to that point so I could get out to be there when my daughter was born.

During Defendant's trial, the following exchange took place between Defense Counsel Sanders and Witness Diehl:

DEFENSE COUNSEL SANDERS ("Q"): How is it that you came to meet with the police?

WITNESS DIEHL ("A"): I requested to do so.

Q: How did you request that?

A: Through a sergeant of the corrections facility.

Lastly, the evidentiary hearing transcript reflects the following colloquy between Defendant's Counsel, James V. Viggiano, and Witness Diehl:

COUNSEL []: While you were in Volusia County, in Volusia County jail, did a jail deputy ever approach you about an offer to help yourself?

WITNESS DIEHL ("A"): Yes

Q: While you were in the Volusia county jail, did a jail deputy ever approach you about some kind of an offer?

A: Yes, he did.

Q: . . . What did the jail deputy say to you?

A: He had asked me if I was - - well, he didn't ask me. He informed me that he knew I was kind of buddying [sic] up with Richard England and asked me if I would be interested in speaking with anyone about what was told to - - you know, information that I heard from Richard England.

The Florida Supreme Court held that an inmate acted as a state agent where statements were "directly elicited by the State's stratagem deliberately designed to elicit an incriminating statement from [the defendant]." *Smith v. State*, 28 So. 3d 838, 858 (Fla. 2009) (emphasis original); *cf. Dufour*, 495 So. 2d at 159 ("inmate was not a state agent where the inmate approached the authorities on his own initiative and, after speaking with authorities, the inmate was neither encouraged nor discouraged from obtaining further information"). On May 17, 2004, the trial judge denied Defendant's Motion to Suppress the testimony of Witness Diehl. In the trial court's written order, the trial judge noted that "Investigator McGuire was entirely passive regarding the securing of information from defendant Diehl. McGuire told Diehl not

to approach the defendant, not to initiate conversations, and not to act as the agent of the police." The trial court's order on the Motion to Suppress centered on whether law enforcement procured Witness Diehl's assistance to determine whether he was a state agent. After consideration, the trial court held that Witness Diehl was not an agent of the state; and this Court agrees.

Further, this is a claim that should have been raised on direct appeal; and as such, it is procedurally barred. *See Topps v. State*, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 2004) ("The term 'procedural bar' is a very broad term essentially meaning that the case, claim, or issue is precluded in some manner from being considered on the merits."); *see also Everett v. State*, 54 So. 3d 464 (Fla. 2010) (where at the pretrial suppression hearing of a defendant's deposition the court denied a motion to suppress, and the Florida Supreme Court held that the defendant's claim was procedurally barred).

Even if Defendant's claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant's allegation that Counsel was ineffective for not discovering that Witness Diehl was a state agent, has not satisfied the requirements of Strickland. In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must show: "(1) that his counsel's performance was deficient - i.e., unreasonable under prevailing professional norms; and (2) that the deficiency prejudiced the defense - i.e., that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d 573; 582 (Fla. 2008) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Further, "when a defendant fails to make a showing as to one prong, it is not necessary to delve into whether he has made a showing as to the other prong." Evans v. State, 946 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2006) (quoting Whitfield v. State, 923 So. 2d 375, 384 (Fla. 2005)). Moreover, passivity on the part of law enforcement is the critical factor in the analysis of the culpability of their conduct. Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 1997). Additionally, recantation testimony has been determined by the courts to be exceedingly unreliable. Lowe v. State, 2 So. 3d 21 (Fla. 2008).

Here, Defendant has not met his burden to establish that Witness Diehl in fact was acting as a State agent through any solicitation of the

correction officer. Although, the Deposition lacks any questions by Counsel Sanders about Witness Diehl's initial contact with the corrections officer, this, in and of itself, does not establish Counsel Sanders was deficient. Defendant failed to present the unidentified corrections officer at the evidentiary hearing as a witness to verify who initiated the contact. Further, the testimony provided by Investigator Michael McGuire ("Investigator McGuire") was that he was contacted by a corrections officer who stated that Defendant had requested to speak with law enforcement. Additionally, the Witness's testimony contradicts itself. During trial he testified that he requested to speak with the police through a corrections officer at the jail. However, at the evidentiary hearing he testified that the corrections officer initiated contact with him. Furthermore, even if the corrections officer offered whether Witness Diehl would be interested in speaking with law enforcement, his request was entirely passive. Defendant has not proved that Witness Diehl in fact was an agent of the state because of the alleged communication between Witness Diehl and the corrections officer. Therefore, Counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to discover that Witness Diehl was an agent of the state. Since Defendant has failed to demonstrate that Counsel's performance was deficient there is no need for this Court to address prong two.

(V20, R3127-31) (internal footnotes omitted).

B. Procedural Bar

This issue is procedurally barred. Trial counsel filed a motion to suppress the statement of Diehl, alleging that he was a State agent. The trial court held a hearing on that motion on May 13, 2004, after jury selection. The trial court made findings of fact that Diehl was **not** a State agent. If England disputed that ruling, he should have raised the issue on direct appeal. To avoid that procedural bar, England alleges ineffective assistance of counsel. Claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of

counsel. See Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1280 (Fla. 2005).

C. Speedy Trial Waiver

At trial, Judge Foxman addressed England's refusal to waive speedy trial.

THE COURT: First of all, let's deal with speedy trial. You're the one that makes the ultimate decision as to whether or not that's waived. And we provide you . . . we do the best we can. We provide you with an excellent attorney. And you've got one.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, I do.

THE COURT: Well, you ought to be listening to him, because he's very smart. He's very experienced. And he works his cases very well. And he doesn't sell his clients out. And I'm sure in good faith he thought that you all were prepared to waive speedy trial. And out of an abundance of caution, I asked him to get it in writing. And then you balked.

Ultimately, you make that decision. You can say, No, I'm not going to waive, and we'll crank it up and we'll try the case. I think it'd probably be to your detriment. You ought to listen to your attorney and follow what he says. But you make that decision after consulting the attorney. We need to know now if you're going to –

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, I understand that.

THE COURT: Well, let's talk a little bit further. So if you're going to . . . if you're going to refuse to waive, then I'm going to say let's crank it up and we'll take it to trial. Again, because it's your decision. I strongly urge you to listen to and evaluate the arguments of your attorney. You've got a good one. And you should never forget that. Appointing Jerry Keating was one of the best things that anybody could have done for you.

(DAR, V4, R661-662).

After this colloquy with the trial judge, England initially signed the waiver

of speedy trial. (DAR, V4, R669). Then, England abruptly withdrew his waiver and demanded to go to trial.

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I change my mind. I'm going to go to trial. I'm ready for the trial. I'm not going to wait anymore. I'm sorry.

MR. DAVIS: The state's ready, Your Honor.

MR. KEATING: I'm not.

THE DEFENDANT: I've changed it. I'm going in.

MR. KEATING: He's going without me. Your Honor, I'd like to withdraw from the case. I think Mr. England's making a mistake. He's making that mistake without me. I can't be ready for a May trial. And, unfortunately, I think I've got to get out of the case.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not going to wait another year. I've been locked up too long. I'm not guilty of this charge; simple as that.

(DAR, V4, R670-671).

When England then demanded speedy trial, Mr. Keating moved to withdraw several times, stating that he could not be prepared for trial and could not be effective. (DAR, V4, P666, 667, 670). Judge Foxman denied the motion to withdraw, stating:

THE COURT: Well, the problem here is, it's his choice. And he makes it. You put him on notice. **As far as any 3.850 or 3.851, he asked for it. And he's going to get it, basically**. So that's where we are.

(DAR, V4, P672). The trial court set a trial date of May 10, 2004 and England personally agreed with that trial date.

THE COURT: Okay. Sir, you agree to the 10 May date;

THE DEFENDANT: That's correct. Thank you.

Therefore, even if counsel was deficient and there was prejudice, it was England's decision to go to trial before his attorney had a reasonable amount of time to prepare for both phases of a capital murder case.

D. Merits—Case Law Supporting the Trial Court's Findings That Diehl was not a State Agent and the Post-Conviction Court's Findings that Counsel was not Deficient

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